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Laura Fenelli Le Campora, 1908: 
Discovering a Trecento Fresco Cycle

The starting point for any research concerning the partially destroyed com-
plex of Le Campora is an article entitled “Die Fresken in der Cappella di S. Antonio 
in Le Campora”, published by the Swedish Professor Osvald Sirén in 1908 in the  
«Monatshefte für Kunstwissenschaft»1. In this essay, the events that led Sirén to 
this study will be analysed, as will the three early twentieth century photographic 
campaigns that preceded and followed Sirén’s article, as well as the history of the 
trecento convent of Le Campora between the end of the nineteenth century and 
the early twentieth century. Particular attention will be paid to the families who 
owned the convent after the suppressions operated by the French government 
and transformed it into a villa.

In 1908 Osvald Sirén published a monographic study in German devoted to 
the Florentine painter Giottino. The small volume Giottino und seine Stellung in 
der gleichzeitigen florentinischen Malerei2 enjoyed a warm reception. The review 
that appeared the following year in «The Burlington Magazine» testifies to this3. 
It was not the first study on the artist: in 1900 Paul Schubring had published a 
short article with the title Giottino in the twenty-first volume of the «Jahrbuch 
der Koeniglich Preussischen Kunstsammlungen»4. Nonetheless Sirén’s was the 
first monographic study able to consciously approach the problem of the artistic 
personality of Giotto’s supposed nephew. 

Sirén’s attention to the Giottino problem was constant in his life and pro-
duction. Beginning with the monograph of 1908, he returned to the topic for a 

This articles focuses on several aspects of the trecento fresco cycle in the church of S. Maria al Sepolcro, Le 
Campora: the 1815 secularization (and its transformation into a private villa, which profoundly altered 
the original aspect); the three different photographic campaigns, by Mannelli, Reali and Brogi, taken 
between the end of the nineteenth and the early twentieth centuries, which documented the complex 
state of preservation of the frescoes, and the birth and growth of the Kunsthistorisches Institut photo-col-
lection in Florence; and lastly, the rediscovery of Le Campora made by Sirén, together with his pioneering 
attempt to reconstruct Giottino’s catalogue.
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second time in his book Giotto and Some of his Followers5 and lastly in his article 
for the Italian Journal «Dedalo», in 1936, on Il problema Maso-Giottino6 (The Ma-
so-Giottino problem). His interest in Florentine painting from the second half of 
the Trecento was like a fil rouge, in a career that was mainly devoted to the study 
and pioneering photographic reproduction of Chinese art. The «small book called 
Giottino», as the author refers to it in an article in «The Burlington Magazine» in 
19207, had the ambitious aim of reconstructing the large corpus of paintings that 
the early sources ascribed to Giotto’s nephew, and of proposing some new attri-
butions to the circle of contemporary painters who worked in Florence in the sev-
enties and eighties of the fourteenth century. In doing so, Sirén begins his study 
by critically considering the artistic literature on Giottino: the Book of Antonio Bil-
li8, of Anonimo Gaddiano9 and Vasari, who, in the two editions of his Lives, listed 
a number of paintings under his name. As modern scholars have shown, Vasari 
(and Sirén following him) confuses Maso di Banco with Maso or Tommaso di Ste-
fano, and in doing so, attributes the whole corpus of Maso di Banco’s production, 
including the important commission of the Bardi da Vernio chapel in Santa Croce, 
to the fictitious name of Maso di Stefano / Giottino10. For centuries after Vasari, the 
fictitious character of Maso di Stefano, believed to combine the personalities and 
the works of Maso di Banco, Stefano and Giottino, with his dipingere dolcissimo e 
tanto unito, was considered responsible for almost all the works made during a 
half century. This was only rectified with the studies by Roberto Longhi and Rich-
ard Offner11. By following Vasari, Giottino’s corpus in Sirén is large. Including works 
now attributed to Orcagna (the Crucifixion fresco in the Santo Spirito chapter 
house12), Allegretto Nuzi (the polyptych now in Philadelphia13), and Don Silvestro 
de’ Gherarducci (the Crucifixion now in the Metropolitan Museum of Art14).

In the first chapter of his book, Die scriftlichen Quellen, Sirén lists the works that 
Antonio Billi15 and Vasari attribute to Giottino. Sirén mentions the name of the Flo-
rentine convent of Le Campora. Again, the information provided by Vasari is prob-
ably the source of two entries of Antonio Billi which read: «in San Gallo nel primo 
chiostro, una Pieta molto bella; e alle Campora più fiure; negli Herminj uno san Cosi-
mo e uno san Damiano che sono guasti »16. The works listed by Billi in two differ-
ent locations (many figures at le Campora and a Saint Cosmas and Damian in San 
Basilio) become one single entry in Vasari, almost identical in the two different 
versions of the Vite: «Dopo fece alle Campora, luogo de’ Monaci Neri fuor della Porta 
a S. Piero Gattolini17, un S. Cosimo e S. Damiano che furono guasti nell’imbiancare la 
chiesa»18. In spite of the confusion between the two different works, the Vasari 
passage is significant because it was from this that Sirén gathered the information 
concerning a fresco cycle at Le Campora, as well as the idea for the already cited 
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article, published in 1908, i.e. the same year of the monograph on Giottino.

The convent of Le Campora (fig. 1) is situated almost two kilometres outside 
Porta S. Pier Gattolini (nowadays Porta Romana), on the way to Marignolle. It was 
founded around 1350 by a group of hermits led by the Pistoiese defector Bar-
tolomeo di Bonone19. In the 1370s, the convent, protected by the Albizzi family, 
became the mother house of the monastic order of the Girolamites and for near-
ly fifty years it enjoyed a period of wealth and splendour. In the years between 
1368 and 1378 the Benini chapel, the one later studied by Sirén, was frescoed by 
an unknown painter20. This period of prosperity lasted for only half a century. In 
1434, after almost fifteen years of failed attempts, Le Campora was acquired by 
the Benedictine convent of the Badia Fiorentina, in order to be used mostly as a 
summer house21. The most interesting description of what could have been in the 
church before the significant damage incurred in the nineteenth century, is the so 
called Sepoltuario by Stefano di Francesco Rosselli. A scholar and collector of an-
tiquities, Rosselli penned descriptions of Florentine churches from 1650-165722. 
According to this indispensable source, the main chapel was flanked by the Be-
nini chapel (fig. 2) on the left23, close to the sacristy door and on the right by the 
Garbo chapel. Two large chapels were created in the fifteenth century along the 
left side of the nave, facing south east toward the street and close to a side door24: 
one by the Vettori family, with an Annunciation by Neri di Bicci25 and the other by 
the Del Pugliese family with the famous Vision of St. Bernard by Filippino Lippi26. 
Yet what Sirén likely saw in 1903 (when a trip to Florence and an encounter with 
Bernard Berenson are documented27), was a radically altered site. 

In 1815 the convent was sold to private owners. The Badia had been deconse-
crated in 1808 with the Napoleonic suppression of religious orders. In 1819 when 
it was partially restored to its original function, the summer house was already 
lost28. The buyer of Le Campora was Francesco Del Corona, a rich Florentine mer-
chant, who in 1846 obtained, or rather purchased the title of Noble of San Mini-
ato. We do not know the exact conditions of the convent at the time of the pur-
chase, but Francesco Del Corona’s restorations were massive in order to transform 
the convent into a villa in keeping with the style of the early nineteenth century 
(fig. 3)29. It is not easy to follow the transformations that so profoundly altered 
the convent’s appearance first during the nineteenth century, and again in recent 
years. The present site, reduced compared to the nineteenth-century villa (also 
due to World War II bombing), presents only a small part of the fourteenth- and 
fifteenth-century complex. At this stage in the current scholarship it is difficult to 
determine when the major changes occurred and when the nave of the church, 
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including the main apse and part of the transept, collapsed. It is possible to obtain 
some idea about the subsequent destruction by comparing the different maps of 
the Florentine Catasto (Land and Property Registry). Whilst they are not precise 
plans of the destroyed complex, the various dimensions of the cloister may pro-
vide evidence relevant to the different stages of the building’s collapse. In the first 
map, dated to around 1835 when the Catasto was «activated», the sketch of the 
convent shows a quadrangular cloister30, which seems to be slightly smaller in the 
187331 map and smaller again in 189532. 

Moreni, writing in the Contorni di Firenze in 1793 described a longitudinal 
church with many family chapels and various works of art33. Of them only the Vi-
sion of Saint Bernard, painted by Filippino Lippi for Piero del Pugliese had already 
been removed from Le Campora during the siege of Florence in 1529-1530. In 
Moreni’s description, all the other works of art still appear to be in their original 
location. Among them is, for example, the Coronation of the Virgin, painted from 
1424-1425 by Rossello di Jacopo Franchi for the high altar34. This monumental 
work, more than three metres wide and painted on both sides (dimensions that 
demonstrate the huge proportions of the apse), was in fact moved first to the 
convent of San Marco, where all the works of art from suppressed convents were 
transferred to in 1808, and later to the Galleria dell’Accademia35. Significantly, 
the report drafted during the visit made by the commission for the suppression, 
which listed the works of art still in the villa, states:

 «Adì 9 novembre 1810, La Commissione predetta si è trasferita questa mat-
tina alla Villa delle Campora dei monaci benedettini della Badia di Firenze, 
e vi ha ritrovato gli appresso quadri, che erano situati nella Chiesa di detta 
Villa»36. 

According to this document all the paintings, including the huge Coronation of 
the Virgin by Rossello, seemed to be still housed in an existing church and not in 
the small chapel that we see today. 

The Del Corona family owned the villa for the entire nineteenth century and 
the English novelist Ouida may have rented it from them for a few years, from 
1891 to 1894, when she left Florence for Lucca, after her mother’s death37. Ouida, 
the pseudonym of Maria Louise Ramé, was incapable of managing her money 
wisely and continuously moved from one location to another. In 1893 she wrote 
to her agent Bernhard Tauchnitz and described the Villa del Corona to him, «a 
beautiful old place, which for seven centuries was a monastery, until it was secu-
larized by the Great Napoleon» and asked him for an advance on her next novel 
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in order to avoid being evicted by the owner: «If I do not pay my rent for this villa 
on the eighth I shall be turned out of it», she complained38. When her friend Lady 
Paget, who had just bought the Torre di Bellosguardo with her retired husband, 
the former British Ambassador, visited her in the villa in the same year, she made 
no mention of the frescoes, describing only the desperate situation of the dila- 
pidated house:

 «Her only furniture seemed to be a plaster cast of Gay’s bust39, for which 
she asked me years ago. There were only two or three chairs in many rooms 
I traversed, a pink-and gold paper hung in rags from the wall, there were no 
fires, no carpets»40. 

Ouida’s mother died on 10 September, six week after the money arrived from 
Tauchnitz. Her corpse remained on the second floor of the villa for ten days since 
Ouida had no money to pay for the funeral. Finally, there was no choice but to 
bury her in the pauper section of the Allori Cemetery outside Florence. As Lady 
Paget recounts, after being once more requested to pay, «I never went again and 
some months later she was evicted by the Carabinieri for not paying her rent»41. 

The nineteenth-century story of Ouida is accompanied by descriptions of the 
church42. Yet the scarcity of descriptions and analysis of the Trecento fresco cycle 
that decorated the Benini chapel before Sirén’s article in 1908 are evident. The 
chapel is only recorded in Carocci’s meticulous description of I dintorni di Firenze, 
first published in 187543 and reprinted and expanded several times until the last 
edition of 1906-190744. The volume was the product of years of analysis and stud-
ies conducted in and around Florence by the author, who was appointed Ispettore 
per le Antichità e Belle Arti della Toscana, Ispettore regionale dei monumenti, and in 
his last ten years of activity, Director of the Museum of San Marco. The meticulous 
studies for I dintorni di Firenze are an unparalleled treasure trove of information 
for historians, providing the first information regarding the Benini chapels and 
their patrons, and some pioneering research on the church’s foundation45. Caroc-
ci’s book features the in-depth analysis of an art historical monograph combined 
with the topographical and narrative structure of a guide. It was often quoted, 
even in more popular publications such as the Country Walks about Florence by 
Edward Hutton. Hutton, a wealthy English friend of Bernard Berenson rented the 
villa di Boccaccio at Settignano above Florence from 1901, later being instrumen-
tal with others in establishing the British Institute in Florence46. 

Published in 1908, the same year as Sirén’s article, Hutton’s book describes the 
villa (which from the early twentieth century was owned by a Scottish family, the 
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Burn-Murdochs47) as «one more splendour» to be visited before returning to the 
city. By explicitly following Carocci and quoting him, Hutton attributes the Benini 
frescos to “the school of the Gaddi”. This attribution would enjoy some success in 
the following years and indeed does not lack stylistic evidence, if we compare the 
cycle to the early works of Agnolo or of his less known and documented brother, 
Giovanni48: «Among those precious fragments of which, as we have seen, so many 
are scattered on the hills here» –Hutton continues, «these frescoes are not the 
least precious among those precious things which lend to any walk in the Floren-
tine country that I have so loved something of the rareness of a vision, the joy of 
coming upon some exquisite thing suddenly by the wayside».

Sirén’s article marked a significant shift from the previous literature’s attempts 
to describe the frescoes on the walls of the Benini chapel. His accurate description 
is based upon the six photos (in fact seven, since no. 5 documented two different 
portions of the same fresco).

Although there is no record of Sirén’s visit to the chapel, it is highly probable 
that it took place in 1903, when he was in Florence, or in 1905/06 when again 
he gave a lecture at the Kunsthistorisches Institute in Florenz (KHI)49. Due to the 
precise descriptions of portions of the cycle it is clear that Sirén had first hand 
experience of them50. The three photographic campaigns of Le Campora are pre-
served (if not entirely intact) in the photo library of the Kunsthistorisches Institut 
in Florence where they are currently being studied by Ute Dercks51. The fototeca of 
the KHI was founded by the private initiative of a group of German art historians 
living in Florence, headed by Karl Eduard Freiherr von Liphart (1808-1891). From 
the early 1870s it consisted of a library staffed by specialists and a collection of 
illustrations, which would ensure that direct contact with the works of art and the 
archives would be possible52. Heinrich Brockhaus (1858-1941), a member of the 
famous Leipzig publishing family, became director in 1897 and on 16 November 
of the same year the Institute was provisionally opened in his private apartments 
on the Viale Principessa Margherita, 21 (the present-day Viale Spartaco Lavag-
nini). The Institute was expanded in 1903, supplemented by the addition of the 
adjoining apartment (still in Viale Principessa Margherita, at number 19) that in-
cluded a work room and four other rooms. At this stage, even though the Institute 
had appointed a permanent paid curator, a librarian, and an assistant, there was 
no curator of the photo collection. This explains why we have only scarce docu-
mentation on how the first photographic campaigns were conducted, sponsored, 
commissioned or acquired by the Institute. What we do know is that the pictures 
Sirén used for his article are from the Kunsthistorisches Institut, since it is explicitly 
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thanked before the first footnote53. The photo collection grew fast: in 1899 there 
were almost 5,000 photos and when Brockhaus ended his mandate in 1912 there 
were around 26,400. They were almost all new photographs taken by the best 
Florentine photographers, and were for the most part of unpublished works of 
art, in order to increase the Institute’s scientific activities54. This may explain why 
the almost unknown cycle of Le Campora was documented by three different 
photographic campaigns.

In 1922 the Institute moved to rented rooms on the second floor of the Palazzo 
Guadagni (in Piazza S. Spirito, 9) due to the need for greater space as their collec-
tion of books and photographs grew. Nonetheless, it still lacked a paid curator of 
the photographic material, which continued to grow with the help of volunteers 
such as Fritz Gebhard who, from 1923 to 1928 described, listed and inventoried 
more than 7,000 photos every year55. His work was continued by Ulrich Middel-
dorf, later (1953) appointed as director of the Institute and responsible for the 
first official alphabetical and topographical card index56. The complex history of 
the Institute’s foundation and institutionalization, and the parallel growth of the 
photo collection may explain why the inventories of the photos provide no help 
in reconstructing their chronology. 

The photographic documentation used by Sirén is the result of a campaign 
conducted by Mannelli, which is listed in the inventory only on 16 April 1927, 
but is obviously at least twenty-one years older57. The small company headed by 
Anchise Mannelli, later know as «Anchise Mannelli e Co.», was the contemporary 
of the more famous Florentines Alinari and Brogi. The company made its first ap-
pearance among the members of the Società Fotografica Italiana on 26 February 
1890 and it won a silver medal at the Universal Exhibition of Paris in 190058. The 
Kunsthistorisches Institute’s inventory of 1927 lists seven different pictures, but 
only three of them have survived (figs. 4, 5, 6)59. Yet it is possible to reconstruct 
the subject of the other four by combining the inventory data with the material 
illustrating Sirén’s article60. For example, Sirén’s illustration no. 3, which is no lon-
ger present in the KHI photo collection, is clearly the photo listed in the inventory 
with the number 40143, described as the Death of St. Anthony. By comparing the 
photos it becomes quite clear that this first photographic campaign was under-
taken with the precise aim of fully documenting a fresco cycle whose condition 
of visibility, in private ownership, then as today, was not the easiest. In that sense, 
it clearly adhered to Brockhaus’s intent to document unknown or unpublished 
Florentine works of art with photos to encourage art historical research. Those 
photos were perfect for illustrating Sirén’s study which focused mainly on the  
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description of the site and the various architectural and artistic characteristics of 
the convent turned into a villa. In particular, with the help of the photographs, 
Sirén describes every single scene of the Benini fresco cycle. The cycle illustrates 
episodes from the life of St. Anthony Abbot, the Egyptian hermit, and his encoun-
ter with Paul, the first hermit61 (fig. 7). Sirén devotes three pages to a descrip-
tion of the cycle, and his interest appears to be the identification of the patrons 
(thanks to a frescoed coat of arms of the Benini family), the figurative system 
of the cycle and a comparison between the scenes depicted and their hagio- 
graphical sources. The Mannelli photo-campaign, an unparallel resource for Sirén, 
is astonishingly similar in focus, point of view and framing to the 2011 photo cam-
paign patronized again by the KHI62.

The classification of the photographs in the KHI archive is closely connected 
with the problems of attribution of the frescoes. The cycle is considered to be 
close to the style of Giottino (Vasari probably mistakenly attributes a Saint Cosmas 
and Damian at Le Campora to him) and the frescoes are discussed by Sirén in the 
bigger picture of Florentine artistic production of the second half of the Trecento. 
The photos themselves were entered in the 1927 inventory with this attribution, 
«style of Giottino»63. The Mannelli photographic campaign is very different in its 
aim and in the framing of the photographs from another campaign undertaken 
in the following years. The photo Reali are listed in the photo collection of the KHI 
with the inventory numbers 21893 to 21902 (ten photos, none missing) and they 
are recorded in the inventory before the Mannelli campaign, on 4th April 1925 
without any further indication of location or attribution64. This was probably due 
to the complex inventorying activity mentioned before.

It is nonetheless sure that the Reali pictures were taken after the Mannelli pho-
tos and that the inventory may reflect a date closer to the actual campaign. The 
Foto Reali firm was active in Florence between 1910 (so two years after Sirén’s 
publication with the Mannelli illustrations) and 194065. During this time, the Reali 
brothers surveyed private art collections and dealer inventories throughout Italy, 
often photographing works in situ. The Reali photo campaign is radically different 
and testifies to a profoundly changed attitude toward the works of art (figs. 8, 9, 
10, 11). The pictures do not aim to document a previously unexplored site, but to 
frame single details, mostly the faces, in order to proceed to a stylistic attribution. 
It is not a coincidence that Boskovits used the Reali pictures and not those by 
Mannelli in his Pittura fiorentina alla vigilia del Rinascimento, in order to propose 
an attribution of the Campora cycle to Pietro Nelli66. The comparison between the 
two campaigns is interesting also for the history of the restoration and conserva-
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tion, since the Reali photo 21901 (fig. 10) with St Anthony in a niche proves that 
the fresco was cleaned and that the vertical streak of white plaster which appears 
in the Mannelli photo 40146 published by Sirén was removed (fig. 6). 

The last of the early photographic campaigns was acquired as «old items» (al-
ter Bestand). The pictures are listed in the inventory of 14 April 193367. This major 
campaign, of which we unfortunately have very few records, was significant for its 
attempt to document both the status of the Campora frescoes and the villa. It is 
partially preserved in the photo collection of the KHI: eight pictures (with another 
eight missing) that are of significant importance for their portrayal of architectur-
al and sculptural details, such as the Gianfigliazzi coat of arms on the sacristy door 
(fig. 12), and a holy water stoup which are missing from the first two campaigns. 
They are also important for their record of pictorial details that may been lost 
forever: for example, a severely damaged mid-fifteenth-century fresco that was 
detached from the cloister in 1952 to be restored by Dino Dini and unfortunately 
never replaced in its original position. In spite of many attempts made to find it in 
the Soprintendenza storage facilities, it is likely lost forever (fig. 13). The KHI pho-
tograph (fig. 14)68, together with Sirén’s description in his 1908 article can help us 
imagine the appearance of the fresco, which probably represents a bishop or a 
pope. Due to the fading image of a dove, it could even represent St Gregory the 
Great in a garden and for this reason could help us formulate a hypothesis on the 
quattrocento decoration of the cloister69.

After Sirén’s article of 1908 Le Campora was not the subject of academic in-
quiry for some years. It was rediscovered by Alberto Graziani, a young student of 
Roberto Longhi, who in a 1941 letter to his wife Tina, recounts that he has found 
«una cappella con dei dipinti di Maso, una cappella grande con otto storie di sant’An-
tonio, santi laterali, committenti, profeti, Padreterno, mezze figure ecc», adding that 
he was helped in his discovery by «due o tre fotografie nell’archivio fotografico 
dell’istituto», i.e. photographs at the Kunsthistorisches Institut. He died in 1943 
without publishing anything on Le Campora, but his enthusiastic words record 
the pleasure of the discovery, in spite of his incorrect attribution: «sembra Maso 
puro e in certi punti Cezanne»70. Today, the privately owned villa still preserves the 
frescoes which were restored by the actual owner and were the subject of a two-
year combined technical and historical analysis funded by the Regione Toscana71. 
Sirén’s article, together with the first three pioneering photographic campaigns, 
provides a valuable starting point for proceeding with a significant re-evaluation 
of this forgotten site of the Florentine Trecento.
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in its entirety, from mural paintings to stone artefacts, to the architectural and archaeo-
logical structures. To document the condition of the frescoes after the restorations, a new 
photographic campaign was completed in 2015  (Kunsthistorisches Institut in Florenz, 
Max-Planck-Institut, photographers: Studio Rabatti & Domingie, Firenze, post-production: 
Stefano Fancelli).



Laura Fenelli

LXIV

Fig. 1: Aerial view of Le Campora.

Fig. 2: Ex-church of Santa Maria al Sepolcro, ca 1370, chapel of St. Anthony, Florence.
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Fig. 3: West Façade, Villa del Corona, Florence.
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Fig. 4: Anonymous Florentine painter, St. Anthony Encounters the Centaur and the Satyr, ca 
1370, fresco, ex-church of Santa Maria al Sepolcro, chapel of St. Anthony, Florence (photo 
Mannelli).

Fig. 5: Anonymous Florentine painter, St. Anthony knocking at St. Paul’s Cave, ca 1370, fres-
co, ex-church of Santa Maria al Sepolcro, chapel of St. Anthony, Florence (photo Mannelli).
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Fig. 6: Anonymous Florentine painter, St. Anthony, ca 1370, fresco, ex-church of Santa Maria 
al Sepolcro, chapel of St. Anthony, Florence (photo Mannelli).

Fig. 7: Ex-church of Santa Maria al Sepolcro, chapel of St. Anthony, Florence, digital mon-
tage made with the 2011 KHI photo. 
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Fig. 8: Anonymous Florentine painter, St. Paul, ca 1370, fresco (detail), ex-church of Santa 
Maria al Sepolcro, chapel of St. Anthony, Florence (photo Reali).
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Fig. 9: Anonymous Florentine painter, St. Anthony, ca 1370, fresco (detail), Florence, ex-
church of Santa Maria al Sepolcro, chapel of St. Anthony, Florence (photo Reali).
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Fig. 10: Anonymous Florentine painter, St. Anthony, ca 1370, fresco, ex-church of Santa 
Maria al Sepolcro, chapel of St. Anthony, Florence (photo Reali).
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Fig. 11: Anonymous Florentine painter, St. Anthony, ca 1370, fresco (detail), ex-church of 
Santa Maria al Sepolcro, chapel of St. Anthony, Florence (photo Reali).

Fig. 12: Sacristy door, ca 1370, ex-church of Santa Maria al Sepolcro, Florence.
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Fig. 13: Anonymous Florentine painter, St. Gregory the Great with monks (?), late fifteenth 
century, detached fresco, unknown location. 

Fig. 14: Anonymous Florentine painter, St. Gregory the great with monks (?), late fifteenth 
century, fresco, ex convent of Santa Maria al Sepolcro, cloister, Florence.


